
 

 
 
 

 
Agenda 
General Purposes and Arbitration Committee 
 

Thursday, 12 October 2023 at 5.30 pm 
In Committee Room 1 - Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 

 
  
1   Apologies for Absence 

 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

 
2   Declarations of Interest 

 
Members to declare any interests in matters to be 
discussed at the meeting. 
 

 

 
3   Urgent Item of Business 

 
To determine whether there are any additional 
items of business to be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

 

 
4   Local Government Boundary Commission 

Periodic Electoral Review of Sandwell 
Metropolitan Borough Council 
 
To note the report and recommend to Council that 
the Local Government Boundary Commission for 
England’s (LGBGE) intention to carry out a 
periodic electoral review of Sandwell Council 
during the period October 2023 until September 
2025 be noted. 
 

5 - 34 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

Shokat Lal 
Chief Executive 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 
Distribution 
Councillor Melia (Chair) 
Councillors Dhariwal(Vice-Chair), M Allcock, Fitzgerald, Johnston, Kalari and 
Maycock 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 2

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 
 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  
 
 

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

Page 3

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

Page 4



 

 
 

 
 
Report to General Purposes and Arbitration 
Committee  
 

12 October 2023  
 
 
Subject: Local Government Boundary Commission Periodic 

Electoral Review of Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 
Council  
 

Director: Surjit Tour 
Director of Law and Governance 
 

Contact Officer 
report author: 

Mike Jones, Assistant Director for Legal and 
Assurance 
Mike1_Jones@sandwell.gov.uk  
 
Tracey Hurst, Electoral Services Manager  
Tracey_Hurst@Sandwell.gov.uk  
 

 
1 Recommendations 
 
For the reasons set out in the report it is recommended the committee notes 
and recommends to Council that: 

 
1.1 The Local Government Boundary Commission for England’s (LGBGE) 

intention to carry out a periodic electoral review of Sandwell Council 
during the period October 2023 until September 2025 be noted. 
Implementation of any changes will take effect at the Local Government 
Election due to be held on 7 May 2026. 
 

1.2 The Chief Executive as Senior Responsible Officer (SRO), following 
consultation with Group Leaders and the General Purposes and 
Arbitration Committee, be authorised to submit any necessary 
documentation or evidence to the Local Government Boundary 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Mike1_Jones@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Tracey_Hurst@Sandwell.gov.uk


 

Commission in connection with the successful delivery of the electoral 
review of Sandwell Council. 
 

1.3 A cross-party Boundary Review Working Group comprising 7 members 
be established to progress the electoral review of Sandwell in 
accordance with the Terms of Reference set out at Appendix 1 to this 
report.  
 

1.4 Subject to receipt of a confirmed timetable from the LGBCE, 
implementation of the Full Council resolution of November 2022 to 
undertake an additional electoral cycle consultation be postponed until 
July 2026 following the all-out elections taking place on 7 May 2026 to 
allow implementation of Sandwell’s new electoral arrangements 
following the conclusion of the LGBCE review.    

    
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 The LGBCE has informed the council of its decision to carry out an 

electoral review of Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council (MBC). The 
review covers both the council size (number of elected councillors) and 
the number of wards and ward boundaries. 
 

2.2 The purpose of this report is to advise of the start of the electoral review 
and detail the timeline, planned governance arrangements and 
methodology for the review process.  
 

2.3 The review will take place from October 2023 through to September 
2025. Any changes made regarding council size and ward boundaries 
for Sandwell MBC will come into effect for the Local Elections in May 
2026.   
 

2.4 The successful delivery and implementation of the electoral review is a 
council-wide corporate priority. The delivery of the project will be 
overseen by the Council’s Chief Executive and SRO, and the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer. A clear governance pathway for decision making and 
submission of the relevant information and proposals is necessary to 
ensure the successful delivery of the electoral review.   
 

2.5 Members will recall that Full Council in November 2022 resolved to 
undertake a further public consultation on the electoral cycle (whether to 
retain the current frequency of elections or move to an all-out election 

Page 6



 

once every four years) during 2024. It is proposed that the LGBCE 
electoral review be prioritised and completed first, which will conclude 
with an all-out election to the new warding pattern. Subject to the 
agreement of Full Council, its previous resolution would then be 
implemented and a further consultation on the electoral cycle 
undertaken.  

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 

 

People live well and age well 

 

Strong resilient communities 
 
The Council plays a major part in promoting local 
democracy, encouraging people to register as electors, 
providing information about local issues and providing 
pathways by which people can influence decision-making. 
Electoral reviews seek to establish and maintain the 
conditions for a fair and representative democracy at local 
level. In addition, the review will ensure that the council size 
is appropriate for ensuring that the Council is able to deliver 
on its corporate priorities and in a manner consistent with the 
Council’s desire to be open and accountable to its residents. 
 

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell  
 
The geographic configuration of wards through the review 
process will be undertaken in accordance with LGBCE 
requirements. These include recognition of the need to 
ensure community identity and accessibility within wards, 
often associated with key community facilities, infrastructure 
and transport hubs.  
 

Page 7



 

 
3 Background  

 
3.1 The last electoral review of Sandwell MBC was conducted in 2002. This 

established the current council size of 72 councillors, representing 24 
wards, all of which represented by 3 Councillors. The Borough of 
Sandwell (Electoral Changes) Order 2003 was laid, and the 
arrangements came into effect at the borough-wide elections in 2004.    
 

3.2 The purpose of an electoral review is to consider the total number of 
councillors elected to the Council, the names, number and boundaries of 
the wards, and the number of councillors to be elected for each ward. 
 

3.3 The LGBCE has given notice that it intends to carry out electoral reviews 
of all English local authorities that have not been reviewed in twelve or 
more years, of which Sandwell MBC is one. The LGBCE are currently 
undertaking several electoral reviews across the West Midlands, 
including Dudley, Coventry, and Walsall Councils. Timetables vary by 
council, and it is important to note that other councils are at different 
stages of their review process.  
 

3.4 The LGBCE held a meeting with the Council’s Chief Executive in August 
2023, followed up by a letter from the Chair of the Commission 
confirming their intention to conduct a periodic electoral review of 
Sandwell MBC.  
 

3.5 A briefing was held in September 2023 by the Commission with officers 
from across all key departments of the Council involved in the delivery of 
the review. On the 26 September 2023 the LGBCE provided a briefing 
for all Group Leaders about the review. The LGBCE will be providing a 
briefing to all councillors during November 2023 (date to be confirmed).  
A detailed information pack prepared by the LGBCE will be circulated 
following the briefing.   
 

3.6 The LGBCE can be invited at the request of the Local Authority, or they 
can intervene themselves. Thresholds for intervention are whether a 
ward has an electorate of +/- 30% from the average electorate for the 
authority and/ or if over 30% of all wards have an electorate of +/- 10% 
from the average electorate for the authority.  
 
 

Page 8



 

3.7 Whilst wards in Sandwell MBC have not breached the threshold of 
elector ratios to impose an electoral review, LGBCE practice is to 
cyclically review all councils to reflect changes in electorate distribution 
and density which naturally occur over time. Appendix 2 to this report 
details the current electorate for each ward against the average 
electorate used to calculate the threshold and give context for the 
review.   
 

4 Context and Key Issues   
 
4.1 Review Timetable 

 
4.2 The Council is currently in the initial stages of the review where briefings 

take place between the LGBCE, Members and Officers, and the project 
delivery methodology are established and agreed. This is known as the 
preliminary period.  
 

4.3 There are two core components of an electoral review – determining 
council size and setting ward boundaries, summarised below. Further 
detail is provided later in this report  
 
• Council Size: Before ward boundaries are redrawn, the 

Commission will come to a view on the total number of councillors 
to be elected to the Council in future. A decision on council size is 
concluded after hearing the Council’s (and/or councillors’) views 
during the preliminary phase.  

 
• Ward boundaries:  Secondly the commission will redraw ward 

boundaries so that they meet statutory criteria. The Council will 
have an opportunity to put forward ideas regarding the boundaries 
in two phases of public consultation. 
 

4.4 The two parts of the electoral review are broken down into a series of 
stages with specific timetables attached, as detailed in the table 
below/overleaf. A copy of the LGBCE timetable is shown in Appendix 3 
to this report.  
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.5 The deadline for the Council’s submission on council size is 8 April 2024. 
A draft submission will be presented to Council ahead of the deadline. 
The second stage involving the consultation on ward boundaries will 
commence following the local elections in May 2024. 
 

4.6 The final stage of the review will take place in 2025 when the LGBCE’s 
final recommendations are presented before Parliament and the 
Sandwell Electoral Arrangements Order enacted in law. Any changes 
contained within the Order will be implemented at the Local Elections 
scheduled for 7 May 2026.  
 

4.7 The review process  
 

4.8 The review process will take approximately two years and includes at 
least two phases of public consultation where proposals/comments on 
the number of councillors and proposed ward boundaries will be invited.  
 

Page 10



 

4.9 A cross-party member working group will be established together with an 
officer working group to prepare and deliver the Council’s submission 
(draft Terms of Reference for the member Boundary Review Working 
Group are set out at Appendix 1).  
 

4.10 Regular updates will be provided to Leadership Team, Cabinet and 
Group Leaders. Draft submissions throughout the entire review process 
will be presented to the General Purposes and Arbitration Committee 
with final approval by Full Council.  
 

4.11 Throughout the process, the LGBCE aims to work closely with the 
Council, local people, and organisations. Any consultations held will be 
with a view to ensure that they are as inclusive and accessible as 
possible.  
 

4.12 The review process aims to deliver efficient and representative local 
government, with wards and ward boundaries that are fair for voters and 
reflect community ties. The review process can also help councils align 
local leadership ambitions with their decision-making arrangements.  
 

4.13 Local Government in England has changed since the last electoral 
review was implemented. Decision-making arrangements are now 
fundamentally different, the ways by which services are commissioned, 
designed, and delivered are constantly evolving and councillors’ 
representational roles have changed. 
 

4.14 It is important to note that the LGBCE cannot change or take account of 
the boundaries of Parliamentary constituencies. These are reviewed 
under separate legislation by a separate body. In addition, the LGBCE 
recommendations do not affect local taxes, addresses or postcodes. Nor 
is there any evidence that LGBCE recommendations have an adverse 
effect on house prices or car/house insurance premiums.  
 

4.15 The LGBCE do not determine the size and shaping of polling districts of 
the Council or the location of polling stations. This is a decision for the 
Council.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



 

4.16 Part 1: Council Size 
 

4.17 The first part of the process is the invitation from LGBCE for the Council 
to make a submission on council size - that is the total number of 
councillors to be elected to the Council.  
 

4.18 The Council will need to ensure that its submission on the number of 
councillors required is an effective representation, and that it addresses 
consideration of all three criteria below.  
 

4.19 This will mean that the content is based on rationale and not assertion.  
The submission will need to include practical community examples and 
clear evidence.  
 

4.20 Alongside the council size submission, the Council is required to submit 
information on current electoral data, as well as a detailed forecast 
electorate for 2030 with a clear explanation of the methodology used to 
calculate the forecast electorate. Following receipt of any submissions, 
the LGBCE will make its judgment on council size considering three 
broad areas:  
 
• The governance arrangements of the Council and how it takes 

decisions across the broad range of its responsibilities.  
 

• The Council’s scrutiny functions relating to its own decision 
making and the Council’s responsibilities to outside bodies.  

 
• The representational role of councillors in the local 

community and how they engage with people, conduct casework, 
and represent the Council on local partner organisations.  
 

4.21 The LGBCE emphasise that any submission to them on council size 
(whether it is for an increase, reduction, or maintaining current 
arrangements) should address these areas. It is critical that the view on 
council size is robustly supported by evidence.  
 

4.22 To assist the Council, the LGBCE ask that councils under review use 
and complete the LGBCE’s submission template for this purpose which 
specifies the topics and key lines of explanation. An example of the 
Commission’s template is shown in Appendix 4 to this report.  
 

Page 12



 

4.23 When putting forward a council size submission, the LGBCE will assess 
the number proposed councillors against neighbouring and peer 
authorities as set out by CIPFA. This information will be provided for all 
councillors in the guide issued to them by the LGBCE proceeding the 
councillor briefing.   
 

4.24 To ensure that the Council provides sufficient evidence to support its 
submission, a councillor journal will form part of the submission in 
addition to a councillor survey. This will be crucial in providing evidence 
around the representation role of the Council’s elected members. 
 

4.25 Further information relating to both the survey and journal will be 
provided to all members following their briefing from the LGBCE.   
 

4.26 Part 2: Warding Patterns  
 

4.27 Following receipt of representations on council size, the LGBCE will 
confirm their decision to the Council on their determination of Sandwell’s 
council size. This will then allow the second part of the review process to 
commence.  
 

4.28 Part 2 of the review process incorporates two phases of public 
consultation. The process remains the responsibility of the LGBCE 
throughout the review.  
 

4.29 The first phase involves the LGBCE inviting the Council to present its 
proposals for new ward boundaries. The Commission will use responses 
to that consultation to develop and propose draft recommendations for 
new boundaries across the borough.  
 

4.30 The LGBCE will then hold a second round of consultation on the draft 
recommendations which the council will again be able to comment on 
and propose alternatives.  
 

4.31 The LGBCE will then proceed to draw up the new electorate 
arrangements that provide the best balance of the statutory criteria 
within which they must make their decisions. The criteria include three 
main elements – 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
• Delivering electoral equality for local voters 

This means ensuring that each councillor represents roughly the 
same number of voters so that the value of an elector’s vote is the 
same regardless of where they live in the local authority area. 

 
• Interests and identities of local communities 

This means establishing electoral arrangements which, as far as 
possible, avoid splitting local ties and where boundaries are easily 
identifiable. 

 
• Effective and convenient local government 

This means ensuring that the wards can be represented effectively 
by their elected representative(s) and that the new electoral 
arrangements, including both the council size decision and warding 
arrangements, allow the local authority to conduct its business 
effectively. 

 
4.32 The LGBCE encourages and welcomes participation on the review from 

a wide variety of local sources as possible.  In their communications, the 
Commission target three broad audiences.  
 
• The Council – elected members, staff, local political parties 

(including MPs). 
• Members of the public. 
• Local organisations – residents’ groups and other local 

organisations with an emphasis on groups that will enable the 
LGBCE to meet their responsibilities under the Equality Act. 

 
4.33 Full Council decision – proposed further consultation on electoral 

cycle 
 

4.34 In March 2022, Sandwell MBC received Statutory Directions from the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC). 
The Directions set out the requirement of the council to develop, agree 
and deliver an Improvement Plan. 

 
4.35 In response to the directions on the 1 June 2022, the council published 

its Improvement Plan. The plan outlined several objectives, workstreams 
and aims. Page 24 of the plan, Theme 4 - Decision-making states the 
council will “explore options around a four-year electoral cycle” 

Page 14



 

 
4.36 The Council undertook public consultation over a 6-week period during 

July 2022 in respect of options for its electoral cycle, the options being –  
 

• Election by thirds (elections based on a 4 yearly cycle with the final 
year no elections); or  

• Whole Council Elections once every fourth year.  
 
4.37 Participation in the consultation process was limited, with a response 

rate of 0.25%. Full Council at its extraordinary meeting of 22 November 
2022 therefore resolved to retain its current electoral cycle. In addition, 
Full Council resolved to undertake a further consultation on future 
arrangements for the electoral cycle during 2024.  

 
4.38 In June 2023 Sandwell’s Commissioners submitted their latest report to 

the Secretary of State, including comments on their 12 proxies for 
success. Commissioners directly addressed the electoral cycle, stating -   

 
“(12) The Council has considered properly and decided as to whether to 
move to a four-yearly electoral cycle. As reported in our letter to you in 
December 2022, we consider this question was properly considered by 
the Council, that a comprehensive report was properly considered and 
debated. For this reason, we consider this proxy fully satisfied.” 
 

4.39 Since the Full Council resolution of November 2022 and publication of 
the Commissioners latest letter in June 2023, the LGBCE formally 
notified the Council of its intention to commence a boundary review of 
Sandwell MBCs electoral arrangements as detailed earlier in this report. 
As this process commences during October 2023 with a projected 
schedule for completion of 2026, this will directly impact on the Council’s 
ability to conduct another electoral cycle review in 2024.  

 
4.40 Undertaking another consultation on the electoral cycle so soon after the 

first one could be seen negatively by residents and impact on 
responses/engagement. Postponing a further consultation on the 
electoral cycle until after implementation of any LGBCE 
recommendations at the all-out elections in May 2026 would help to 
provide strong evidence and accurate data on the impact and costs of all 
out elections compared to elections by thirds. This enables meaningful 
and evidence-based arguments to be presented to residents to be able 
to allow council to make a more informed decision. 

 

Page 15



 

4.41 For the above reasons, and to recommended that the electoral cycle 
review referred to above be postponed until 2026 to enable the local 
government boundary review to be first completed.  
 

5 Implications 
 
Resources: Existing council officers form part of the project group for 

delivery. The Council’s Monitoring Officer will lead the 
delivery of the review. Resources required to support the 
delivery of the LGBCE electoral review are contained 
within the Council’s existing budgetary provisions.  
 

Legal and 
Governance: 

The LGBCE operates under the provisions of Part 3 of 
the Local Democracy, Economic Development & 
Construction Act 2009 (the 2009 Act). This established 
the LGBCE in place of the former Boundary Committee of 
the Electoral Commission. 
 
Under S56(1) of the 2009 Act, the LGBCE must, from 
time to time, conduct a review of the area of each 
principal council, and recommend whether a change 
should be made to the electoral arrangements. In this 
regard, “electoral arrangements” means: 
 
• The total number of councillors 
• The number and boundaries of electoral areas for 

the election of councillors 
• The number of councillors to be returned by any 

electoral area 
• The name of the electoral area 

 
The legislation does not set out how many councillors 
each authority (or type of authority) will have. It is the 
LGBCE’s responsibility to determine the appropriate 
number of councillors for each authority. 
 
In making its recommendations, Schedule 2 to the 2009 
Act requires the LGBCE to have regard to: 
 
(a) The need to secure that the ratio of the number of 

local government electors to the number of councillors 

Page 16



 

is, as nearly as possible, the same in every electoral 
area – over the five-year period following the 
implementation of recommendations  

 
(b) The need to reflect the identities and interests of             

local communities and, the desirability of fixing 
boundaries: 
• which are and will remain easily identifiable 
• so as not to break any local ties 

 
(c) The need to secure effective and convenient local 

government 
 
Schedule 2 to the 2009 Act also states that the LGBCE 
should consider any change to the number and 
distribution of electors that is likely to take place within 
the five years following the end of a review.  
 
This requirement means that, at the start of the review 
the LGBCE asks us to provide them with six-year 
forecasts of electorate changes in all polling districts, i.e., 
up to 2030. 
 
The LGBCE’s decision on council size will mark the 
formal start to the review process. However, this decision 
will not be formalised until their Final Recommendations 
are agreed and published at the end of the process.  
 
This is because the number of councillors may change 
marginally (generally ±1) from the initial decision if it is 
felt that modifying the number of councillors may provide 
for a pattern of wards that better reflects the three 
statutory criteria referred to in paragraph 4.31. 
 
The Final Recommendations describe the complete set 
of electoral arrangements, including ward names and 
locations, as well as the number of elected members.  
 
These recommendations will be implemented at the next 
scheduled borough council elections in May 2026 by 
means of an Order laid before Parliament. 
 

Page 17



 

Risk: Sandwell Council has a duty to comply with the LGBCE 
during an electoral review.  
 
The main risk is that if a proper and robust review is not 
conducted, there may be an unfair and disproportionate 
number of members to electors throughout the borough.   
 
If the Council does not produce a detailed, evidenced-
based submission on its council size, the LGBCE will 
impose its own recommendations for the future electoral 
arrangements for Sandwell. The Council’s submission 
must be clear and evidence the Council’s requirements.  
 

Equality: Under the Equality Act 2010, Section 149 states a public 
authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to: 
• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 

and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under 
this Act; 

• advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it; 

• foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who 
do not share it. 
 

In this regard, the Council must consider whether the 
decision will or could have a differential impact on ethnic 
minorities; people with disabilities; people of a particular 
sexual orientation; people due to their age; people due to 
their gender; people due to their religious belief; or 
people who are pregnant 
 
The Council must ensure that all communications are as 
inclusive and accessible as possible throughout the 
review. It is not however, considered that an equality 
impact assessment is necessary for the purpose of 
responding to the LGBCE on the number of councillors or 
patterns of ward boundaries. 
 

Page 18



 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

There are no implications of the proposals on health and 
wellbeing of our communities arising from this report. 
  

Social Value: There are no implications for social value and how the 
proposals are meeting this (for e.g., employment of local 
traders, young people) arising from this report.  
 

Climate 
Change: 

There are no relevant climate change implications arising 
from this report.  
 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

The are no corporate parenting implications arising from 
this report. 
 

 
6 Next Steps  
 
6.1 Following the General Purposes and Arbitrations Committee 

recommendation and approval by Council of the contents of this report 
and its recommendations the first part of the review will commence. 
 

6.2 Meetings will take place between officers and the cross-party member 
Boundary Review Working Group to start to gather and collate relevant 
data and information.  
 

6.3 Following the Commissions briefing to all Councillors in early November 
an information pack will be distributed.  
 

6.4 A further report and a draft council size submission will be presented to 
the General Purposes and Arbitration Committee through to full Council 
in February 2024.  

 
7 Appendices  
 
7.1 Appendix 1: Cross Party Working Group Terms of Reference  

 
7.2 Appendix 2: Current Ward electorate totals and variation 
 
7.3 Appendix 3: LGBCE Timetable of review  
 
7.4 Appendix 4: LGBCE example template council size submission  

Page 19



 

 
 
8 Background Papers 
 
8.1 LGBCE Technical Guidance  

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/technical-guidance-
2021.pdf 

 
8.2 Sandwell Electoral Order 2003 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/2510/made/data.xht?view=snip
pet&wrap=true 

 
 
 

Page 20

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/technical-guidance-2021.pdf
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/technical-guidance-2021.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/2510/made/data.xht?view=snippet&wrap=true
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/2510/made/data.xht?view=snippet&wrap=true


        
 

 

Appendix 1 
Boundary Review Working Group –  
Terms of Reference 
 
1.  Aims & Objectives 
 
1.1. To oversee the development of formal Council proposals on 

council size and a proposed warding pattern for submission to the 
Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE), 
ensuring full involvement and co-ordination between Members and 
Officers throughout the electoral review process. 

 
2.   Membership & Quorum 
 
2.1 The Group shall comprise up to 7 Members of the Council, 

allocated based on the political proportions of the council. 
Nominations to be made by Group Leaders to the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
2.2 The quorum of the Group shall be 3 Members including a minimum 

of 1 opposition Member. 
 

3. Procedure Rules 
 

3.1 The Group shall, at its first meeting, appoint a Chair and Vice-
Chair drawn from its membership. 
 

3.2 The Group shall complete its task upon the LGBCE publication of 
its final proposals for revised electoral arrangements for Sandwell 
Metropolitan Borough Council. 

 
3.3 Alternate/substitute arrangements will not apply. 
 
4. Terms of Reference 
 
4.1 To provide support in the provision of information required by the 

LGBCE in their conduct of the electoral review. 
 

4.2 To review representations made in relation to the electoral review 
and inform recommendations to be made to the General Purpose 
and Arbitration Committee and Full Council.  
 
 

Page 21



        
 

 

 
4.3 To facilitate, coordinate, involve and consult all Members 

throughout the review process to ensure effective consultation and 
participation in the Council’s submissions. 
 

4.4 To formulate draft recommendations to the LGBCE for 
consideration by the General Purpose and Arbitration Committee 
and Full Council relating to –  

 
4.4.1 the proposed total number of members of the Council.  
4.4.2 the proposed number and boundaries of wards for the 

purposes of 4.4.1. 
4.4.3 the proposed number of Councillors to be returned by any 

ward.  
4.4.4 the proposed name of any ward.  
 

4.5 To the extent feasible within the review timeline, the Working 
Group will consult the General Purpose and Arbitration Committee 
in respect of its work and recommendations. 

Page 22



Current Ward Electorate Totals   Appendix 2        

This table shows that there are currently 4 wards that breach the 10% 
ratio against the average electorate total.  
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page | 1  

 
Appendix 3 

 
Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council: Electoral Review 
Timetable 

 
These timetables outline the key dates and activities for both the Council (shown in 
bold) and the Commission during the review process. 

Preliminary Period 

Briefings Attendees Key Dates Council LGBCE 
Preliminary 
Meeting 

Council Leader 
Chief Executive 

Chair 
Chief Executive 

15 August 2023 

 
Officer Briefing 

Council Officers 
involved in 
review 

Review Manager 
Review Officer 

18 September       
2023 

 
 

Group Leader 
Briefing 

Council Group 
Leaders 

Lead Commissioner 
Review Manager 
Review Officer 

26 September 
2023 

 

Full Council 
Briefing 

 
All Councillors 

Lead Commissioner 
Review Manager 
Review Officer 

Early November 
2023 

Parish/Town 
Council & Local 
Groups Briefing 

 
Not required Review Manager 

Review Officer 

Late May/ 
Early June 

2024 

 
Council Size 

Activity Involvement Key Dates Council LGBCE 

 
Develop council 
size proposal 

 
Council 
Political Groups 

Officers will be 
available to answer 
any technical 
queries on making a 
submission. 

 
Now until 
April 2024 

Submission of 
council size 
proposals 

Council 
Political Groups 

Officers will 
acknowledge receipt 
of submissions. 

 
8 April 2024 

Commission 
Meeting: Council 
Size 

 
Not required 

 
Commission 

 
21 May 2024 

Page 25



Page | 2  

Warding Patterns 

Activity Involvement Key Dates Council LGBCE 
 
Consultation on 
warding patterns 

Council 
Political Groups 
General Public 

Run consultation, 
collate & analyse 
responses. 

 
28 May 2024 –  

5 August 2024 

Commission 
Meeting: Draft 
Recommendations 

 
Not required 

 
Commission 

 
15 October 2024 

 
Consultation on 
Draft 
Recommendations 

 
Council 
Political Groups 
General Public 

Publish draft 
recommendations. 
Run consultation, 
collate & analyse 
responses. 

 
29 October 2024 
– 6 January 2025 

Commission 
Meeting: Final 
Recommendations 

 
Not required 

 
Commission 

 
18 March 2025 

 
Final 
Recommendations 
Published 

 
 
Not required 

Commission publish 
final 
recommendations 
report and mapping 

 
 

1 April 2025 

 
Order 

Activity Involvement Key Dates Council LGBCE 
Order laid Not required Commission Spring 

2025 
Order made Not required Commission Summer 

2025 
Implementation Council Not required 2026 

 

Page 26



 
Appendix 4  
 
  

[Insert name of submission organisation/group/individual here] 

Council Size 
Submission: Template  
[Insert Local Authority Name Here] 

Page 27



 
 

Page | 1  
 

Contents 
How to Make a Submission ................................................................................................... 2 

About You .............................................................................................................................. 2 

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) ......................................................................... 2 

Local Authority Profile ............................................................................................................ 3 

Council Size ........................................................................................................................... 3 

Other Issues .......................................................................................................................... 7 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 28



 
 

Page | 2  
 

How to Make a Submission 
 
It is recommended that submissions on future governance arrangements and council size 
follow the guidance provided and use the format below as a template. Submissions should 
be treated as an opportunity to focus on the future needs of the council and not simply 
describe the current arrangements. Submissions should also demonstrate that 
alternative council sizes have been considered in drawing up the proposal and why 
you have discounted them.  

 
The template allows respondents to enter comments directly under each heading.  It is not 
recommended that responses be unduly long; as a guide, it is anticipated that a 15 to 20-
page document using this template should suffice. Individual section length may vary 
depending on the issues to be explained. Where internal documents are referred to URLs 
should be provided, rather than the document itself. It is also recommended that a table is 
included that highlights the key paragraphs for the Commission’s attention.  
 
‘Good’ submissions, i.e. those that are considered to be most robust and persuasive, 
combine the following key success components (as set out in the guidance that 
accompanies this template): 
 

• Clarity on objectives  

• A straightforward and evidence-led style  

• An understanding of local place and communities  

• An understanding of councillors’ roles and responsibilities 

 
About You 
 
The respondent should use this space to provide the Commission with a little detail about 
who is making the submission, whether it is the full Council, Officers on behalf of the 
Council, a political party or group, a resident group, or an individual.  

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only) 
 
Please explain the authority’s reasons for requesting this electoral review; it is useful for the 
Commission to have context. NB/ If the Commission has identified the authority for review 
under one if its published criteria, then you are not required to answer this question. 

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

The Context for your proposal 
 
Your submission gives you the opportunity to examine how you wish to organise and run 
the council for the next 15 - 20 years. The consideration of future governance 
arrangements and council size should be set in the wider local and national policy 
context. The Commission expects you to challenge your current arrangements and 

Page 29



 
 

Page | 3  
 

determine the most appropriate arrangements going forward. In providing context for your 
submission below, please demonstrate that you have considered the following issues.  
 

• When did your Council last change/reorganise its internal governance arrangements 
and what impact on effectiveness did that activity have? 

• To what extent has transference of strategic and/or service functions impacted on the 
effectiveness of service delivery and the ability of the Council to focus on its 
remaining functions? 

• Have any governance or capacity issues been raised by any Inspectorate or similar? 
• What influence will local and national policy trends likely have on the Council as an 

institution?   
• What impact on the Council’s effectiveness will your council size proposal have?  

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

Local Authority Profile 
Please provide a short description of the authority and its setting, in particular the 
local geography, demographics and community characteristics. This should set the 
scene for the Commission and give it a greater understanding of any current issues. The 
description should cover all of the following:  

• Brief outline of area - are there any notable geographic constraints for example 
that may affect the review?  

• Rural or urban - what are the characteristics of the authority?   
• Demographic pressures - such as distinctive age profiles, migrant or transient 

populations, is there any large growth anticipated?  
• Community characteristics – is there presence of “hidden” or otherwise complex 

deprivation? 
• Are there any other constraints, challenges, issues or changes ahead? 

 
Further to providing a description, the Commission will be looking for a submission that 
demonstrates an understanding of place and communities by putting forth arguments on 
council size based upon local evidence and insight. For example, how does local 
geography, demographics and community characteristics impact on councillor casework, 
workload and community engagement? 
 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

Council Size 
The Commission believes that councillors have three broad aspects to their role.   
These are categorised as: Strategic Leadership, Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulatory 
and Partnerships), and Community Leadership. Submissions should address each of 
these in turn and provide supporting evidence. Prompts in the boxes below should help 
shape responses. 
 
Strategic Leadership 
Respondents should provide the Commission with details as to how elected members will 
provide strategic leadership for the authority. Responses should also indicate how many 
members will be required for this role and why this is justified. Responses should 
demonstrate that alternative council sizes have been explored. 

 

Page 30



 
 

Page | 4  
 

Topic  

Governance 
Model 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What governance model will your authority 
operate? e.g. Committee System, Executive or 
other? 

 The Cabinet model, for example, usually requires 
6 to 10 members. How many members will you 
require? 

 If the authority runs a Committee system, we want 
to understand why the number and size of the 
committees you propose represents the most 
appropriate for the authority.  

 By what process does the council aim to formulate 
strategic and operational policies? How will 
members in executive, executive support and/or 
scrutiny positions be involved? What particular 
demands will this make of them? 

 Whichever governance model you currently 
operate, a simple assertion that you want to keep 
the current structure does not in itself, provide an 
explanation of why that structure best meets the 
needs of the council and your communities. 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Portfolios 
Key lines of 
explanation 

 How many portfolios will there be?  
 What will the role of a portfolio holder be?  
 Will this be a full-time position?  
 Will decisions be delegated to portfolio holders? Or 

will the executive/mayor take decisions? 
Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Delegated 
Responsibilities 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 What responsibilities will be delegated to officers 
or committees? 

 How many councillors will be involved in taking 
major decisions? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

 
Accountability 

Give the Commission details as to how the authority and its decision makers and partners 
will be held to account. The Commission is interested in both the internal and external 
dimensions of this role. Responses should demonstrate that alternative council sizes 
have been explored. 

 
Topic  

Internal Scrutiny 
The scrutiny function of authorities has changed considerably. 
Some use theme or task-and-finish groups, for example, and 
others have a committee system. Scrutiny arrangements may 
also be affected by the officer support available. 

Page 31



 
 

Page | 5  
 

Key lines of explanation 

 How will decision makers be held to account?  
 How many committees will be required? And what will their 

functions be?  
 How many task and finish groups will there be? And what 

will their functions be? What time commitment will be 
involved for members? And how often will meetings take 
place? 

 How many members will be required to fulfil these 
positions? 

 Explain why you have increased, decreased, or not 
changed the number of scrutiny committees in the 
authority. 

 Explain the reasoning behind the number of members per 
committee in terms of adding value. 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Statutory Function 

This includes planning, licencing and any other regulatory 
responsibilities. Consider under each of the headings the 
extent to which decisions will be delegated to officers. How 
many members will be required to fulfil the statutory 
requirements of the council? 

Planning 
 

Key lines 
of 

explanation 

 What proportion of planning applications will be 
determined by members? 

 Has this changed in the last few years? And are further 
changes anticipated? 

 Will there be area planning committees? Or a single 
council-wide committee? 

 Will executive members serve on the planning 
committees? 

 What will be the time commitment to the planning 
committee for members? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Licensing 

Key lines 
of 

explanation 

 How many licencing panels will the council have in the 
average year? 

 And what will be the time commitment for members? 
 Will there be standing licencing panels, or will they be ad-

hoc? 
 Will there be core members and regular attendees, or will 

different members serve on them? 
Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Other 
Regulatory 

Bodies 

Key lines 
of 

explanation 

 What will they be, and how many members will they 
require? 

 Explain the number and membership of your Regulatory 
Committees with respect to greater delegation to officers. 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

External Partnerships 
Service delivery has changed for councils over time, and 
many authorities now have a range of delivery partners to 
work with and hold to account.  

Key lines of explanation  Will council members serve on decision-making 
partnerships, sub-regional, regional or national bodies? In 

Page 32



 
 

Page | 6  
 

doing so, are they able to take decisions/make 
commitments on behalf of the council? 

 How many councillors will be involved in this activity? And 
what is their expected workload? What proportion of this 
work is undertaken by portfolio holders? 

 What other external bodies will members be involved in? 
And what is the anticipated workload? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Community Leadership 
 
The Commission understands that there is no single approach to community leadership and 
that members represent, and provide leadership to, their communities in different ways. The 
Commission wants to know how members are required to provide effective community 
leadership and what support the council offers them in this role. For example, does the 
authority have a defined role and performance system for its elected members? And what 
support networks are available within the council to help members in their duties? The 
Commission also wants to see a consideration of how the use of technology and social 
media by the council as a whole, and by councillors individually, will affect casework, 
community engagement and local democratic representation. Responses should 
demonstrate that alternative council sizes have been explored. 

 
Topic Description 

Community 
Leadership 

Key lines of 
explanation 

 In general terms how do councillors carry out their 
representational role with electors?  

 Does the council have area committees and what are 
their powers?  

 How do councillors seek to engage with their 
constituents? Do they hold surgeries, send newsletters, 
hold public meetings or maintain blogs?  

 Are there any mechanisms in place that help councillors 
interact with young people, those not on the electoral 
register, and/or other minority groups and their 
representative bodies?  

 Are councillors expected to attend community meetings, 
such as parish or resident’s association meetings? If so, 
what is their level of involvement and what roles do they 
play? 

 Explain your approach to the Area Governance structure. 
Is your Area Governance a decision-making forum or an 
advisory board? What is their relationship with locally 
elected members and Community bodies such as Town 
and Parish Councils? Looking forward how could they be 
improved to enhance decision-making?   

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

Casework Key lines of 
explanation 

 How do councillors deal with their casework? Do they 
pass it on to council officers? Or do they take a more in-
depth approach to resolving issues?  

 What support do members receive?  

Page 33



 
 

Page | 7  
 

 How has technology influenced the way in which 
councillors work? And interact with their electorate?  

 In what ways does the council promote service users’ 
engagement/dispute resolution with service providers 
and managers rather than through councillors? 

Analysis Click or tap here to enter text. 

 

Other Issues 
Respondent may use this space to bring any other issues of relevance to the attention of 
the Commission.  

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 
Summary 
In following this template respondents should have been able to provide the Commission 
with a robust and well-evidenced case for their proposed council size; one which gives a 
clear explanation as to the governance arrangements and number of councillors required to 
represent the authority in the future.  
Use this space to summarise the proposals and indicate other options considered. Explain 
why these alternatives were not appropriate in terms of their ability to deliver effective 
Strategic Leadership, Accountability (Scrutiny, Regulation and Partnerships), and 
Community Leadership.  

 
Click or tap here to enter text. 
 

Page 34


	Agenda
	4 Local Government Boundary Commission Periodic Electoral Review of Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
	1 Recommendations
	2 Reasons for Recommendations
	3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?
	3 Background
	4 Context and Key Issues
	5 Implications
	05a - Appendix 1 Draft Terms of Reference - Working Group
	05b - Appendix 2 Ward Electorate Totals
	05c - Appendix 3 Sandwell Timetable
	05d - Appendix 4 Example Council Size Template
	How to Make a Submission
	About You
	Reason for Review (Request Reviews Only)
	The Context for your proposal
	Local Authority Profile
	Council Size
	Strategic Leadership

	Other Issues



